
 

 

   

 

No. 10-4658 
 

IN THE 

United States Court of Appeals 
FOR THE THIRD CIRCUIT 

____________ 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 

v. 
 

IAN P. NORRIS, 
        Appellant. 

____________ 

ON APPEAL FROM THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT 
COURT FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

____________ 

PETITION OF APPELLANT IAN P. NORRIS 
FOR REHEARING EN BANC 

____________ 

 
 
 

Christopher M. Curran 
J. Mark Gidley 
Eileen M. Cole 

 
701 Thirteenth Street, N.W. 
Washington, D.C.  20005 
(202) 626-3600 
 
 
Counsel for Appellant Ian P. Norris 
 

 

Case: 10-4658   Document: 003110493149   Page: 1    Date Filed: 04/06/2011



 

 

 i  

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

INTRODUCTION .....................................................................................................1 

I. THE PANEL DECISION SQUARELY CONFLICTS WITH 
SCHRAMM, ARTHUR ANDERSEN, AND AGUILAR AS TO THE 
REQUISITE SPECIFIC INTENT FOR A CONSPIRACY TO 
OBSTRUCT A GRAND JURY PROCEEDING............................................5 

II. THE PANEL DECISION SQUARELY CONFLICTS WITH 
FARRELL’S HOLDING THAT “CORRUPT PERSUASION” DOES 
NOT INCLUDE PERSUADING AN ALLEGED CO-
CONSPIRATOR TO WITHHOLD INCRIMINATING 
INFORMATION .............................................................................................9 

III. THE PANEL DECISION MISAPPLIED BEVILL TO PERMIT THE 
EVISCERATION OF A CORPORATE OFFICER’S PERSONAL 
ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE ............................................................13 

 

 

Case: 10-4658   Document: 003110493149   Page: 2    Date Filed: 04/06/2011



 

 

 ii  

 

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 
 

CASES     PAGE 
 
Arthur Andersen LLP v. United States,  
 544 U.S. 696 (2005).................................................................................... passim 
 
In re Bevill, Bresler & Schulman Asset Mgmt. Corp.,  
 805 F.2d 120 (3d Cir. 1986) ...................................................................13, 14, 15 
 
In re Benun,  
 339 B.R. 115 (D.N.J. 2006) ..........................................................................14, 15 
 
In re Teleglobe Commc’n Corp.,  
 493 F.3d 345 (3d Cir. 2007) ...............................................................................13 
 
Pierre v. Attorney General,  
 528 F.3d 180 (3d Cir. 2008) .................................................................................8 
 
United States v. Aguilar,  
 515 U.S. 593 (1995).................................................................................... passim 
 
United States v. Curran,  
 20 F.3d 560 (3d Cir. 1994) ...........................................................................10, 11 
 
United States v. Davis,  
183 F.3d 231 (3d Cir. 1999).......................................................................................8 
 
United States v. Farrell,  
 126 F.3d 484 (3d Cir. 1997) ....................................................................... passim 
 
United States v. Flores,  
 454 F.3d 149 (3d Cir. 2006) ...............................................................................10 
 
United States v. Klein,  
 515 F.2d 751 (3d Cir. 1975) .................................................................................5 
 
United States v. Schramm,  
 75 F.3d 156 (3d Cir. 1996) ......................................................................... passim 
 

Case: 10-4658   Document: 003110493149   Page: 3    Date Filed: 04/06/2011



 

 

   

 

iii

United States v. Schwarz,  
 283 F.3d 76 (2d Cir. 2002) ...................................................................................6 
 
 
FOREIGN CASES 
 
Norris v. Government of the United States of America, [2008] UKHL 16................1 
 
Norris v. Government of the United States of America, [2010] UKSC 9 ..................1 
 
 
STATUTES 
 
18 U.S.C. § 371......................................................................................................2, 5 
 
18 U.S.C. § 1512(b) ......................................................................................... passim 
 
18 U.S.C. § 1515(c) .................................................................................................15 
 
 
OTHER AUTHORITIES 
 
Sue Reisinger, 3rd Circuit Privilege Ruling Worries Defense Attorneys, THE LEGAL 

INTELLIGENCER, Mar. 31, 2011......................................................................15 
 
Sue Reisinger, Case of Imprisoned British Exec Ian Norris Carries Major 

Privilege Implications, CORPORATE COUNSEL MAGAZINE, Jan. 21, 2011 ....15 
 
Jason L. Driori, From Your Lips to Counsel’s Ears: Privileged Communications 

Between Officers and Corporate Counsel, DRI TODAY, Mar. 29, 2011.......15 
 

 
 

Case: 10-4658   Document: 003110493149   Page: 4    Date Filed: 04/06/2011



 

 

   

 

iv

STATEMENT UNDER RULE 35(b) OF THE FEDERAL RULES 
OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE AND LOCAL RULE 35.1 

We express a belief, based on a reasoned and studied professional judgment, 

that the Panel decision is contrary to decisions of the United States Court of 

Appeals for the Third Circuit and the Supreme Court of the United States, and that 

consideration by the full Court is necessary to secure and maintain uniformity of 

decisions in this Court, in that: 

(1) The Panel decision is contrary to United States v. Aguilar, 515 U.S. 593 
(1995), Arthur Andersen LLP v. United States, 544 U.S. 696 (2005), and United 
States v. Schramm, 75 F.3d 156 (3d Cir. 1996), as to what evidence is sufficient — 
as a matter of law — to support a finding of specific intent to violate obstruction-
of-justice statutes; 

(2) The Panel decision is contrary to United States v. Farrell, 126 F.3d 484 
(3d Cir. 1997), in permitting a jury instruction that allows a conviction for non-
coercively persuading an alleged co-conspirator to withhold incriminating 
information; and 

(3) Furthermore, we also express a belief that this appeal involves a question 
of exceptional importance relating to the attorney-client privilege in the context of 
defending corporations and their officers in a criminal investigation. 

      Respectfully submitted, 

       

    /s/ Christopher M. Curran   
    Christopher M. Curran [ID 408561] 
    J. Mark Gidley 
    Eileen M. Cole 
    701 Thirteenth Street, N.W. 
    Washington, D.C.  20005 

      (202) 626-3600 
 
      Counsel for Appellant Ian P. Norris 
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INTRODUCTION 

This historic case, closely followed in the international legal community, has 

profound implications for U.S. international relations and for U.S. criminal law, 

including fundamental constitutional protections and the sacred attorney-client 

privilege.  Nonetheless, the Panel decision gave this appeal only perfunctory 

attention and, in doing so, ignored controlling precedent and made crucial errors.  

Ian P. Norris, former CEO of U.K.-based Morgan Crucible, is the first 

person ever extradited to the United States upon request of the Antitrust Division.  

His was a test case for the controversial 2003 U.S.-U.K. extradition treaty, which 

allows a U.K. citizen to be extradited to the United States without even a prima 

facie pre-extradition showing of guilt.  Norris’s extradition occurred after 

protracted U.K. proceedings, including two decisions by the House of Lords, the 

first of which ruled that he could not be extradited for price-fixing and the second 

of which ruled that he could be extradited for obstruction of justice.  Norris v. 

Government of the United States of America, [2008] UKHL 16; [2010] UKSC 9.  

After extradition, Norris stood trial on three counts, two substantive counts 

of obstruction of justice and one count of conspiracy to obstruct justice.  The 

substantive counts alleged violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b)(1) for “corruptly 

persuad[ing]” or attempting to “corruptly persuade” other persons with the intent to 

“influence their testimony in an official proceeding” (JA-192-93) (Indict. ¶21) and 
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2

18 U.S.C. § 1512(b)(2)(B) for “corruptly persuad[ing] other persons” with “intent 

to cause or induce those persons to alter, destroy, mutilate or conceal records and 

documents, with intent to impair their availability for use in an official proceeding” 

(JA-193) (Indict. ¶23).  The Indictment specified that the “official proceeding” was 

the federal grand jury proceeding in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania.  (JA-183-

84) (Indict. ¶13).  The conspiracy count (18 U.S.C. § 371) was for conspiring to 

commit the two substantive counts.  Id. 

The trial focused on events occurring after Morgan’s U.S. subsidiary 

received a grand jury subpoena duces tecum from the Division in April 1999.  The 

Morgan companies retained the Winthrop law firm to respond to the subpoena.  All 

documents required to be produced under the subpoena were dutifully produced to 

the Antitrust Division.  (JA-1564-65) (Keany).  In August 2000, the Division told 

the Winthrop firm’s Sutton Keany, Esq. that the Division had new information 

about “price-fixing meetings” between Morgan and its competitors.  (JA-1572-74) 

(Keany); (JA-2308, 2644, 3278) (emails).  Keany reported this development and 

told his U.K. clients:  “It would be most useful if there were minutes of those 

meetings or reports on their contents, etc.”  (JA-2309-11) (email).  

While there were no pre-existing minutes of the meetings, in response to 

Keany’s request, Norris and his colleagues prepared summaries, relying on their 

recollections of the meetings.  (JA-1674-75, 1716) (Macfarlane); (JA-1527) 
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(Keany); (JA-967-68) (Perkins).  Reflecting that they were being prepared after the 

fact upon request of counsel, most summaries were legended “Attorney Privileged 

Information.” (JA-3217-3244) (summaries); (JA-1716) (Macfarlane). 

 The summaries “emphas[ized]” legitimate joint-venture discussions that 

occurred at the meetings and de-emphasized or omitted some pricing discussions 

that occurred.  (JA-968-71) (Perkins); (JA-1672) (Macfarlane).  But there were 

joint-venture discussions at the meetings, and the summaries included references to 

pricing discussions, such as complaints about Morgan’s pricing by one of 

Morgan’s competitors/joint-venture partners.  (JA-3059-78, 3193-3244); (JA-

1719-40) (Macfarlane); (JA-1869-70) (Cox).  The summaries did not mention any 

U.S. price-fixing agreements because none were reached.  (JA-1281, 1377) 

(Kroef); (JA-893) (Emerson); (JA-1033-36) (Perkins); (JA-1889) (Cox). 

 When Keany traveled to Morgan’s U.K. offices a few months later, a 

Morgan executive openly used the meeting summaries during his interview with 

Keany and told Keany that they had been created collectively by the executives to 

prepare for the interviews with him. (JA-1527) (Keany).  Keany produced the 

summaries to the Division, informing them that the summaries were non-

contemporaneous and prepared in response to a request from counsel.  (JA-2317-

18) (letter); (JA-1533-34, 1610-17, 1621-23) (Keany).  These summaries, 

characterized by the Division as “false scripts,” became the centerpiece of the 
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Division’s obstruction-of-justice case.   

 A key issue at trial was whether Keany would be permitted to testify against 

Norris.  The defense presented overwhelming evidence that Keany and the 

Winthrop firm represented not only the Morgan entities, but Norris personally:  the 

Winthrop firm’s senior relationship partner, Jerry Peppers, testified that his firm 

(including Keany) represented Norris personally (JA-524-25) (Peppers); Peppers 

testified that Norris requested and received personal legal advice from the 

Winthrop firm (JA-537-39) (Peppers); the Winthrop firm provided Norris with a 

series of documents stating unequivocally that the firm represented Norris in the 

antitrust investigation (JA-407-11) (Norris Br. at 59-61); Keany himself told the 

Division orally and in writing that he represented not only the Morgan companies 

but their employees as well.  (JA-378, 3419).  Nonetheless, the District Judge held 

that the Winthrop firm did not represent Norris personally.   

 Keany proceeded to testify, disclosing all sorts of confidential 

communications with Norris.  (JA-1518-20, 1521, 1524, 1535-36, 1537, 1540, 

1542, 1543, 1545-50).  Keany’s testimony featured prominently in the Division’s 

closing argument.  (JA-2035-37). 

The jury began deliberations on July 22, 2010.  On July 26, the jurors 

declared that they had reached an “impasse, and neither side will budge.”  (JA-

2194).  The District Court denied the defense’s motion for a mistrial, delivered a 
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modified “Allen” charge, and told jurors to deliberate further.  (JA-2194-96).  On 

July 27, the jury acquitted Norris of both substantive counts, but found him guilty 

of conspiracy to obstruct justice under 18 U.S.C. § 371.  (JA-2208-10).  The 

District Court denied Norris’s post-trial motions, and a three-judge Panel of this 

Court affirmed, in a non-precedential opinion after denying oral argument.   

ARGUMENT 

I. THE PANEL DECISION SQUARELY CONFLICTS WITH 
SCHRAMM, ARTHUR ANDERSEN, AND AGUILAR AS TO THE 
REQUISITE SPECIFIC INTENT FOR A CONSPIRACY TO 
OBSTRUCT A GRAND JURY PROCEEDING 

 The Panel decision ignored controlling precedent in this Court and the U.S. 

Supreme Court which establishes, as a matter of law, that there was insufficient 

evidence to enable a rational trier of fact to conclude that Norris was a party to an 

agreement to knowingly corruptly persuade other persons with intent to influence 

their grand jury testimony.  Given the constitutional rights at stake, this Court’s 

decisions in conspiracy cases such as United States v. Schramm, 75 F.3d 156, 159 

(3d Cir. 1996), rigorously require “substantial evidence” that the defendant agreed 

to and knew of “the specific unlawful purpose charged in the indictment,” here, to 

corruptly persuade others “with intent to influence their [grand jury] testimony.”  

(JA-183-84) (Indict. ¶13); see also United States v. Klein, 515 F.2d 751, 753 (3d 

Cir. 1975).  The Supreme Court in United States v. Aguilar, 515 U.S. 593, 601 

(1995), specifically held that providing false information to Federal investigators, 
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even while knowing of the pendency of a grand jury, “would not enable a rational 

trier of fact” to find a corrupt intent to influence grand jury proceedings.  And the 

Supreme Court in Arthur Andersen LLP v. United States, 544 U.S. 696, 707-08 

(2005), expressly applied Aguilar to 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b), the statute Norris was 

charged with conspiring to violate.  The Panel opinion does not discuss, cite or 

acknowledge Schramm, Aguilar or Arthur Andersen, even though those three cases 

were discussed in detail in Norris’s briefs, and they dictate the outcome.  

 In its search for evidence of intent to corruptly influence grand jury 

testimony, the Panel opinion relies on evidence that Norris and his colleagues were 

aware of the grand jury subpoena duces tecum and prepared “false scripts.”  Slip 

Op. at 6-7.  This evidence is nothing more than was present in Aguilar, where the 

federal-judge defendant was aware of the grand jury investigation and made “false 

statements” to federal agents. 515 U.S. at 600-01; see also United States v. 

Schwarz, 283 F.3d 76, 109-10 (2d Cir. 2002) (holding false statements to 

prosecutor who issued a document subpoena to defendant were insufficient to 

sustain a conviction on conspiracy to obstruct justice).   

 As to the intended use of the “false scripts,” the Panel opinion relies solely 

upon testimony by one alleged co-conspirator, Kroef, that the “scripts” were to be 

used by Morgan employees if “questioned . . . by anybody” about competitor 

meetings.  Op. at 7 (citing App. 1229-30).  This is insufficient under Schramm, 
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Aguilar and Arthur Andersen to support the inference that Norris and others 

intended to influence anyone’s grand jury testimony.   

 First, the Panel opinion misquotes the record.  In fact, the testimony was: 

“Q.  Questioned by whom?  A.  By - - it could be anybody.  Q.  And questioned by 

anyone with respect to what?  A.  To your investigation.”  (JA-1229-30).  This 

testimony, accurately quoted and in context, keeps the evidence squarely within 

Aguilar, as the testimony indicated that the intended use of the “false scripts” was 

solely with respect to the Division prosecutors’ investigation rather than in 

connection with grand jury testimony.  See 515 U.S. at 599.   

 The other evidence, including other Kroef testimony, forecloses any 

inference that Norris and his colleagues agreed or had the specific intent to use the 

“false scripts” to influence anyone’s grand jury testimony, as the witnesses 

uniformly testified that the “scripts” were to be used “[i]n discussions with our 

lawyers” with the expectation that the lawyers would “tell the Department of 

Justice” that the investigation was “unfounded.”  (JA-1675-76) (Macfarlane); see 

also (JA 967-68) (Perkins) (summaries were “potentially needed . . . for discussion 

with attorneys”); (JA-1334-35, 1232-33) (Kroef) (summaries were for use in 

“rehearsal meetings” with Morgan’s “British lawyers” in preparation for Division 

interviews).  The label of “Attorney Privileged Information” on most summaries 

confirms that they were intended for lawyers.  (JA-3217-3244) (JA-1716, 1765) 
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(Macfarlane).  As in Aguilar, there was no evidence that Norris or any alleged co-

conspirator had knowledge that statements made to counsel, the lawyer’s 

statements to the Division, or any Division interviews would somehow morph into 

grand jury testimony.  515 U.S. at 600-01. 

Moreover, Kroef’s “could be anybody” testimony was far too vague to 

constitute substantial evidence of his own specific intent to influence grand jury 

testimony, much less an agreement to achieve this unlawful purpose with Norris, 

Perkins, and Macfarlane.  See United States v. Davis, 183 F.3d 231, 244 (3d Cir. 

1999) (requiring proof that all co-conspirators possess the requisite knowledge).  

As this Circuit held in Pierre v. Attorney General, 528 F.3d 180, 189 (3d Cir. 

2008) (en banc), specific intent “requires not simply the general intent to 

accomplish an act with no particular end in mind, but the additional deliberate and 

conscious purpose of accomplishing a specific and prohibited result.”  

 Not a single trial witness testified that he or anyone else agreed to persuade 

others to provide false grand jury testimony in violation of Section 1512(b)(1).  

None of the executives ever testified before the grand jury in this case, and none 

was ever subpoenaed to testify before the grand jury.  (JA-726-27, 901, 1069-70, 

1377-78, 1406, 1452, 1821).  Indeed, not one alleged co-conspirator ― foreign 

nationals resident overseas ― uttered even the notion that any one of them knew of 

the possibility that witnesses might be or could be called to testify before the U.S. 
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grand jury.  In fact, the alleged co-conspirators’ testimony revealed that they did 

not even know what a grand jury was.  (JA-1377) (Kroef) (“Q. Sir, did you ever 

testify before the federal grand jury in connection with this matter? A. I don’t 

know the answer to that question. Q. Sir, do you know what a grand jury is? A. Not 

really.”)); (JA-1070) (Perkins); (JA-1821) (Weidlich); (JA-900-01) (Emerson).  

Without even a basic understanding of what the grand jury was or could do, i.e., 

hear sworn testimony, it was impossible for a rational factfinder to conclude that 

the alleged co-conspirators had the specific intent to influence grand jury testimony 

or that they agreed to and knew of this “specific unlawful purpose.”  Arthur 

Andersen, 544 U.S. at 708 (quoting Aguilar, 515 U.S. at 599) (“[I]f the defendant 

lacks knowledge that his actions are likely to affect the judicial proceeding . . . he 

lacks the requisite intent to obstruct.”); Schramm, 75 F.3d at 159 (requiring 

agreement to and knowledge of the “specific unlawful purpose”).   

II. THE PANEL DECISION SQUARELY CONFLICTS WITH 
FARRELL’S HOLDING THAT “CORRUPT PERSUASION” DOES 
NOT INCLUDE PERSUADING AN ALLEGED CO-CONSPIRATOR 
TO WITHHOLD INCRIMINATING INFORMATION 

In United States v. Farrell, 126 F.3d 484, 488-89 (3d Cir. 1997), this Court 

held the “corrupt persuasion” element of 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b) excludes persuading 

a co-conspirator to refrain from volunteering incriminating information, based on 

the Fifth Amendment.  The Supreme Court endorsed this holding in Arthur 

Andersen, 544 U.S. at 703-04.  Yet, here, the District Court’s “corrupt persuasion” 
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instruction permitted conviction solely on the grounds that the alleged co-

conspirators agreed to persuade others not to volunteer incriminating information.  

In affirming, the Panel decision conflicts with Farrell and Arthur Andersen.   

Over defense objections, and in lieu of a defense proposal faithful to Farrell, 

the District Court instructed: 

As to the first element, to corruptly persuade, that means to corrupt 
another person by persuading him or her to violate a legal duty, to 
accomplish an unlawful end or an unlawful result or to accomplish 
some other lawful end or lawful result by an unlawful manner.  To 
persuade, that means to cause or induce a person to do something or 
not to do something. 

(JA-2136).  As the defense challenged that the instruction given was a correct 

statement of the law under Farrell (JA-1957-60, 2155), this Court exercises 

plenary review.  See United States v. Flores, 454 F.3d 149, 156 (3d Cir. 2006).  

The defense objected that the first sentence defined what was unlawful (corrupt 

persuasion) only by further reference to undefined “legal duties” and “unlawful” 

results.  The defense explained that a jury cannot be presumed to know what is or 

is not a legal duty.  Here, the jury could easily have believed that the alleged co-

conspirators had a legal duty to provide incriminating information to authorities, or 

that persuading a co-conspirator to not provide such information was corrupt.  

Farrell, 126 F.3d at 488; United States v. Curran, 20 F.3d 560, 571 (3d Cir. 1994) 

(jury may not be “misled into considering as unlawful” omission of act defendant 

“was under no duty to perform”).  And the District Court’s addition to the Third 
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Circuit Model Instruction, that “persuade” means “to cause or induce a person . . . 

not to do something” (JA-2136), only made matters worse, encouraging the jury to 

erroneously conclude that “causing” a co-conspirator “not to” disclose 

incriminating information supported a finding of corrupt persuasion.  Thus, the 

“corrupt persuasion” instruction failed to limit the jury’s consideration to the 

culpable conduct forbidden under Arthur Andersen and Farrell — i.e., persuading 

co-conspirators to give false testimony (rather than omitting facts) — and a new 

trial should be granted.   

The Panel erred in concluding that the jury as instructed could not have 

improperly convicted Norris on this basis because (1) the instruction “did not refer 

to . . . withhold[ing] testimony”; (2) Norris was only charged with conspiring to 

persuade others to give false testimony; and (3) the evidence established that 

Norris conspired to persuade others to give false testimony.  Op. at 8.  First, while 

the instruction does not use the word “withhold,” its language, as detailed above, 

permitted a finding of corrupt persuasion based on omissions.  Second, the 

Indictment charged Norris with conspiring to corruptly persuade others with the 

intent to influence testimony, and the jury was not told that such “corrupt 

persuasion” is limited to encouraging false testimony. (JA-183-84) (Indict. ¶13); 

(JA-2127) (instruction defining conspiracy charge as conspiring to “corruptly 

persuade other persons with intent to influence their testimony”).  Even the 
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Indictment equated the falsity of the “scripts” with the omission or withholding of 

incriminating information.  (JA-187-88) (Indict. ¶19(k)) (summaries “would 

purposely exclude mention of pricing discussions”) (emphasis added); (Indict. 

¶19(n)) (“prepare a materially false and fictitious script that intentionally omitted 

all references to pricing discussions”) (emphasis added).  Indeed, the Division 

itself stated that this case was about “what’s on the scripts and what’s not on the 

scripts.” (JA-1959-60) (emphasis added).  Thus, a crucial question was whether the 

summaries were false or simply omitted incriminating information, such that the 

alleged agreement to answer questions based on the summaries would not amount 

to corrupt persuasion under Farrell.  Finally, contrary to the Panel decision’s 

assertion that the evidence “established” that Norris conspired to corruptly 

persuade others to give “false testimony,” substantial trial evidence showed that 

the summaries merely omitted incriminating information.  (JA-968-70) (summaries 

carefully drafted to “de-emphasize a pricing involvement” and to emphasize joint-

venture discussions); (JA-1673, 1768) (summaries were inaccurate because they 

omitted information).   

The jury should have been properly instructed and permitted to determine if 

the summaries were affirmatively false or merely omitted incriminating 

information.  If the Panel decision stands, contrary to Farrell, future courts may 

perpetuate this crucial error by repeating this flawed instruction which is fully 
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quoted in the published District Court opinion.  

III. THE PANEL DECISION MISAPPLIED BEVILL TO PERMIT THE 
EVISCERATION OF A CORPORATE OFFICER’S PERSONAL 
ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE 

 With no substantive discussion, the Panel affirmed (at 9) the decision to 

permit Keany to testify against Norris based only on Morgan’s waiver.  The Panel 

ignored overwhelming evidence that Keany expressly represented Norris, 

eviscerating the co-client privilege in the corporate setting and prejudicing Norris.  

See In re Teleglobe Commc’n Corp., 493 F.3d 345, 363 (3d Cir. 2007) (waiving 

the joint-client privilege requires the consent of all joint clients).  

 The evidence unequivocally demonstrated that the Winthrop firm, including 

Keany, represented Norris individually during the grand jury investigation.  Both 

Winthrop partners testified that Morgan engaged Winthrop through Peppers, and 

Peppers testified that Winthrop’s representation included representing Norris 

personally.  (JA-433-34) (Keany); (JA-521-24) (Peppers); supra at 4. 

 Express contemporary documentation provided to Norris in 1999 confirmed 

that Winthrop (including Keany) represented Norris personally in connection with 

the investigation.  (JA-407) (10/29/99 Memo) (advising Norris that if he is stopped 

by government officials he should advise them that he is “represented by counsel” 

and “your lawyers are Jerry Peppers, Sutton Keany and Stephen Weiner” of 

Winthrop) (emphasis added); (JA-409) (11/1/99 Letter to U.S. Officials) (“As you 
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have now been informed by our client, Ian Norris, we represent him as his lawyers 

here in the United States and outside the U.S.  This representation specifically 

includes, but is not limited to, matters of any nature, in connection with any 

investigation by the . . . Antitrust Division.”) (emphasis added); see also (JA-411) 

(11/1/99 letter).   

 In response to the Division’s request to “specifically identify . . . those 

individuals . . . that you represent in the grand jury investigation” Keany told the 

Division orally and in writing that Winthrop represented Morgan’s “current 

employees” regarding “matters related to the investigation.”  (JA-3416) (7/30/01 

McClain letter) (emphasis added); (JA-3419) (7/31/01 Keany letter).  Peppers 

testified that in September 2001, Norris expressly asked Peppers if Keany could 

“continue to” represent Norris.  (JA-538-39) (Peppers).   

 Despite this evidence, the Panel condoned the decision to override Norris’s 

privilege using a five-part test discussed in In re Bevill, Bresler & Shulman Asset 

Mgmt. Corp.,  805 F.2d 120, 124 (3d Cir. 1986).  The applicability of this test has 

only been discussed by this Court in Bevill itself, more than 20 years ago, in the 

context of a claim of individual privilege in the face of a corporate waiver where 

counsel was retained by the corporation and not expressly retained by the 

individual.  Bevill, 805 F.2d at 124.  Here, both Norris and Morgan had an express 

attorney-client relationship with Keany and Bevill does not apply.  See, e.g., In re 
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Benun, 339 B.R. 115, 125 (D.N.J. 2006) (Bevill not applicable where the facts 

demonstrate actual co-representation by a single attorney).  Equally corrosive of 

the attorney-client relationship, if the Panel decision stands so too will stand the 

District Court’s novel ruling that defense attorney Keany could be a “conduit” to 

the grand jury – a ruling contrary to the evidence and to existing law.  18 U.S.C. § 

1515(c) (provision of legal services exempt from obstruction of justice).  While the 

Division expressly abandoned this theory on appeal, it will live on in the District 

Court’s published opinion.   

The impact of the Panel decision upon privileged communications in 

corporate investigations is of critical importance to the business community.1 

      Respectfully submitted, 
       

    /s/ Christopher M. Curran   
    Christopher M. Curran [ID 408561] 
    J. Mark Gidley 
    Eileen M. Cole 

      Counsel for Appellant Ian P. Norris
                                                 
1 See, e.g., Sue Reisinger, 3rd Circuit Privilege Ruling Worries Defense Attorneys, 
THE LEGAL INTELLIGENCER, Mar. 31, 2011 (“case ‘creates deeply troubling 
implications for the attorney-client privilege in the corporate setting’”); Sue 
Reisinger, Case of Imprisoned British Exec Ian Norris Carries Major Privilege 
Implications, CORPORATE COUNSEL MAGAZINE, Jan. 21, 2011 (“corporate 
executives hoping federal appeals court takes a hard look at a case in which federal 
prosecutors used the company’s outside counsel to testify against and convict the 
company’s chief executive”); Jason L. Driori, From Your Lips to Counsel’s Ears: 
Privileged Communications Between Officers and Corporate Counsel, DRI 
TODAY,  Mar. 29, 2011 (“Norris may have a chilling effect on communications 
between executives and counsel during internal investigations. . . . This will be 
problematic for companies going forward . . . .”). 
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_____________ 
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_____________ 
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v. 
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                          Appellant 
_____________ 
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March 15, 2011 

 
Before:  RENDELL, BARRY, and CHAGARES, Circuit Judges. 

 
(Filed: March 23, 2011) 

 
____________ 

 
OPINION 

____________ 

CHAGARES, Circuit Judge. 

Appellant Ian P. Norris (“Norris”) was convicted following a jury trial and now 

appeals the sufficiency of the evidence supporting his conviction, the propriety of certain 
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jury instructions, and the District Court’s denial of his asserted attorney-client privilege.  

We will affirm. 

I. 

We write for the parties’ benefit and recite only the facts essential to our 

disposition.  Because this appeal comes to us following a jury’s guilty verdict, we set 

forth the facts in the light most favorable to the Government. 

Norris is the former Chief Executive Officer of the Morgan Crucible Company 

(“Morgan”), a publicly-held corporation based in the United Kingdom.  On September 

28, 2004, a grand jury sitting in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania returned a four-count 

indictment against Norris.  The indictment charged Norris with conspiring to fix prices 

with competitors and engaging in a scheme to mislead and obstruct a United States grand 

jury investigation.  More specifically, the indictment alleged that Norris met with various 

competitors in a price-fixing scheme that eventually expanded into the United States 

market.  The indictment further alleged that after a federal grand jury initiated an 

investigation into this behavior by issuing a subpoena duces tecum in April 1999, Norris 

created false minutes or “scripts” for his employees to memorize in the event that they 

were ever questioned about the meetings with competitors.  Norris also allegedly directed 

his subordinates to destroy incriminating documents in order to ensure that those 

documents would not be produced in the grand jury investigation. 

Count One of the indictment charged Norris with conspiring to fix prices for 

certain products sold in the United States, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1.  Count Two 
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charged Norris with a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371 by conspiring to violate 18 U.S.C.                        

§§ 1512(b)(1) and 1512(b)(2)(B).  Counts Three and Four charged Norris with violating 

the underlying statutes:  Count Three alleged a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b)(1) for 

corruptly persuading or attempting to corruptly persuade other persons with intent to 

influence their testimony in an official proceeding and Count Four alleged a violation of 

18 U.S.C. § 1512(b)(2)(B) for corruptly persuading other persons with intent to cause or 

induce those persons to alter, destroy, mutilate, or conceal records and documents, with 

intent to impair their availability for use in an official proceeding.   The indictment 

specified that the “official proceeding” in question for purposes of 18 U.S.C. §§ 

1512(b)(1) and 1512(b)(2)(B) was the federal grand jury investigation into Norris’s and 

Morgan’s alleged anticompetitive behavior.   

Norris was extradited from the United Kingdom on March 23, 2010 to face trial on 

Counts Two, Three, and Four of the indictment.1

                                              
1  Pursuant to the United Kingdom Extradition Order, dated September 22, 2008, Norris 
could not be prosecuted on Count One. 

  On June 1, 2010, the Government 

moved in limine for an order permitting Sutton Keany – former counsel to Morgan – to 

testify at trial.  After holding an evidentiary hearing on July 6, 2010 and hearing 

argument on July 9, 2010, the District Court granted the Government’s motion to permit 

the testimony on July 12, 2010.  On July 19, 2010, the District Court denied Norris’s 

motion for reconsideration.   
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 Norris’s trial began on July 14, 2010 and lasted seven days.  On July 27, 2010, the 

jury convicted Norris on Count Two and acquitted Norris on Counts Three and Four.  On 

November 30, 2010, the District Court denied Norris’s motion for acquittal, or, in the 

alternative, for a new trial.   

On December 10, 2010, the District Court sentenced Norris to eighteen months of 

imprisonment and three years of supervised release.  The District Court also imposed a 

$25,000 fine and a $100 special assessment.  The final judgment of conviction was 

entered on December 13, 2010.  This timely appeal followed.   

II. 

The District Court had jurisdiction under 18 U.S.C. § 3231 and we have 

jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291.   

We exercise plenary review over Norris’s sufficiency challenge.  United States v. 

Bornman, 559 F.3d 150, 152 (3d Cir. 2009).  “‘The burden on a defendant who raises a 

challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence is extremely high.’”  United States v. 

Iglesias, 535 F.3d 150, 155 (3d Cir. 2008) (quoting United States v. Lore, 430 F.3d 190, 

203-04 (3d Cir. 2005)).  The Court “‘must consider the evidence in the light most 

favorable to the [G]overnment and affirm the judgment if there is substantial evidence 

from which any rational trier of fact could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.’”  Id. 

(quoting Lore, 430 F.3d at 204).  “‘This review should be independent of the jury’s 

determination that evidence on another count was insufficient.’”  United States v. 

Vastola, 989 F.2d 1318, 1331 (3d Cir. 1993) (quoting United States v. Powell, 469 U.S. 
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57, 67 (1984)).  The Government may meet its evidentiary burden “entirely through 

circumstantial evidence,” United States v. Bobb, 471 F.3d 491, 494 (3d Cir. 2006), and a 

reviewing court “must credit ‘all available inferences in favor of the [G]overnment,’” 

United States v. Sparrow, 371 F.3d 851, 852 (3d Cir. 2004) (quoting United States v. 

Gambone, 314 F.3d 163, 170 (3d Cir. 2003)).  “[T]he evidence need not unequivocally 

point to the defendant’s guilt as long as it permits a finding of guilt beyond a reasonable 

doubt.”  United States v. Davis, 183 F.3d 231, 238 (3d Cir. 1999).  This deferential 

standard thus places a very heavy burden on a convicted defendant to demonstrate that 

there is insufficient evidence to support his conviction.  United States v. Rawlins, 606 

F.3d 73, 80 (3d Cir. 2010).  

Generally speaking, we “review the refusal to give a particular instruction or the 

wording of instructions for abuse of discretion.”  United States v. Flores, 454 F.3d 149, 

156 (3d Cir. 2006).  If a defendant fails to object to an instruction during trial, however, 

this Court reviews such unpreserved objections for plain error.  United States v. Lee, 612 

F.3d 170, 191 (3d Cir. 2010).  For an error to be “plain,” it must not only impact the 

defendant’s substantial rights by affecting the outcome of the district court proceedings, 

but must also seriously affect the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial 

proceedings.  United States v. Heckman, 592 F.3d 400, 404 (3d Cir. 2010).   

The legal issues underlying the District Court's application of the attorney-client 

privilege are subject to de novo review.  United States v. Doe, 429 F.3d 450, 452 (3d Cir. 
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2005).  We review the District Court’s factual determinations in applying that privilege 

for clear error.  In re Impounded, 241 F.3d 308, 312 (3d Cir. 2001). 

III. 

 Norris raises three challenges on appeal.  First, Norris contends that there was 

insufficient evidence to support his conviction.  Second, Norris posits that the charge to 

the jury contained two fundamental errors.  Third, Norris argues that the District Court 

erroneously permitted Sutton Keany to testify during trial.  We will discuss each of these 

objections in turn.   

A. 

 Norris first challenges the sufficiency of the evidence supporting his conviction.  

As noted above, a jury convicted Norris of a conspiracy that had two objects:  corruptly 

persuading others with intent to influence grand jury testimony and corruptly persuading 

others to destroy documents with the intent to keep those documents from the grand jury.   

We hold that there is sufficient evidence to uphold the conviction in regard to the first of 

these objects, and therefore do not need to consider the second.  Cf. Griffin v. United 

States, 502 U.S. 46, 56-57 (1991).   

 Norris argues that “there was insufficient evidence for a jury to conclude that 

[Norris and his co-conspirators] formed (or could have formed) the requisite corrupt 

intent to influence anyone’s grand jury testimony.”  Norris Br. at 14.  We disagree.  The 

federal grand jury issued a subpoena duces tecum in April 1999.  According to the 

evidence adduced at trial, Norris showed this subpoena to various Morgan employees, 
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met with those employees to discuss the subpoena, and agreed to draft the false scripts.  

These scripts were to be used by Morgan’s employees if “questioned . . . by anybody” 

about the meetings with competitors.  Appendix (“App.”) 1229-30.  Viewing the 

evidence presented at trial in the light most favorable to the Government and construing 

all available inferences in the Government’s favor, a rational trier of fact could certainly 

conclude that Norris corruptly persuaded others with intent to influence their grand jury 

testimony.   

B. 

Norris next contends that the District Court improperly instructed the jury in two 

respects:  by refusing to adopt Norris’s proffered instruction regarding the meaning of the 

statutory language “corruptly persuades” and by failing to identify for the jury the overt 

acts alleged in the indictment.   

1. 

First, Norris argues that the District Court abused its discretion in refusing to give 

the following proposed instruction regarding the meaning of “corruptly persuades” as 

used in 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b):  

[I]t is not “corrupt persuasion” to persuade a co-conspirator to withhold, or fail to 
volunteer, information, no matter how important that information may be to the 
grand jury proceeding.  In other words, you may not find someone has “corruptly 
persuade[d]” another person if all he did was to persuade co-conspirators to 
withhold incriminating information. 
 

App. 335 (second alteration in original).  The District Court instead provided the jury 

with the following instruction: 
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[T]o corruptly persuade, that means to corrupt another person by persuading him 
or her to violate a legal duty, to accomplish an unlawful end or an unlawful result 
or to accomplish some other lawful end or lawful result by an unlawful manner.  
To persuade, that means to cause or induce a person to do something or not to do 
something. 
 

App. 2136.   

Norris posits that the District Court’s instruction permitted the jury to convict 

solely on the ground that Norris attempted to persuade co-conspirators to withhold 

testimony, which would be contrary to our holding in United States v. Farrell, 126 F.3d 

484, 488 (3d Cir. 1997).  The District Court’s instruction, however, did not refer to an 

effort to persuade others merely to withhold testimony.  Furthermore, nothing in the 

instruction would have permitted the jury to convict solely on this ground:  Norris was 

charged with conspiring to corruptly persuade others to give false testimony, not 

withhold testimony, and the evidence adduced at trial established that Norris conspired to 

corruptly persuade others to give the false testimony set forth in the various scripts 

created by Norris and his co-conspirators.   Accordingly, the District Court did not abuse 

its discretion in instructing the jury regarding the meaning of “corruptly persuades” as 

used in 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b).   

2. 

 Second, Norris argues that the District Court erred in failing to identify the “overt 

acts” alleged in the indictment necessary to find Norris guilty of conspiracy.  Norris 

failed to object regarding this issue at trial, and we therefore review the District Court’s 

purported failure pursuant to a plain error standard.    
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We see no plain error in the District Court’s instruction on this point.  Norris’s 

argument that “[t]he jury necessarily ignored the ‘overt act’ element or engaged in 

impermissible speculation,” Norris Br. at 48, is itself nothing more than speculation.  The 

District Court specifically and correctly instructed the jury that the Government was 

required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that at least one member of the conspiracy 

performed an overt act in furtherance of that conspiracy.  The possibility that the jury 

convicted Norris based on overt acts not alleged in the indictment neither impacted the 

outcome of the proceedings nor seriously affected the fairness, integrity, or public 

reputation of the proceedings, in light of the fact that we have held that a jury may 

properly convict based on an overt act not alleged in the indictment.  United States v. 

Adamo, 534 F.2d 31, 38-39 (3d Cir. 1976).  The District Court therefore did not plainly 

err by failing to identify the overt acts alleged in the indictment.   

C. 

Finally, Norris argues that the District Court erred in permitting Sutton Keany to 

testify at trial.  “[I]t is clear, in this Circuit, that a party who asserts a privilege has the 

burden of proving its existence and applicability.”  In re Grand Jury Investigation, 918 

F.2d 374, 385 n.15 (3d Cir. 1990).  The District Court in this case held an evidentiary 

hearing and ultimately determined that Norris failed to meet his burden in asserting his 

privilege pursuant to the five-factor test set forth in In the Matter of Bevill, Bresler & 

Schulman Asset Management Corp., 805 F.2d 120, 123 (3d Cir. 1986).  The District 
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Court did not legally err in applying this test, and we see no clear error in the District 

Court’s holding based on the facts elicited in the evidentiary hearing.   

IV. 

For the reasons stated above, we will affirm the judgment of conviction.   
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE THIRD CIRCUIT 

_____________ 
 

No. 10-4658 
_____________ 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

 
v. 
 

IAN P. NORRIS, 
 

     Appellant 
_____________ 

 
On Appeal from the United States District Court 

for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania 
(No. 2:03-cr-00632) 

District Judge:  Hon. Eduardo C. Robreno 
 

Submitted Under Third Circuit LAR 34.1(a) 
March 15, 2011 

 
Before:  RENDELL, BARRY, and CHAGARES, Circuit Judges. 

 
____________ 

 
JUDGMENT 

_____________ 
 

This cause came on to be heard on the record from the United States District Court 

for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, and was submitted pursuant to Third Circuit 

LAR 34.1(a) on March 15, 2011.   

On consideration whereof, it is now hereby 
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ADJUDGED and ORDERED by this Court that the JUDGMENT of the United 

States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania entered December 13, 2010 

is hereby AFFFIRMED.  All in accordance with the opinion of this Court.   

      ATTEST: 

 

      /s/ Marcia M. Waldron, 
      Clerk  

 

Dated:  March 23, 2011 
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